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ANALYSIS OF SECRETARY HUEBSCH JANUARY 29, 2015 MEMORANDUM TO 

GOVERNOR WALKER 

In his January 29, 2014 (should have been dated 2015) memorandum to Governor Walker, Secretary 

Huebsch attempted to address questions surrounding his analysis of the Kenosha Casino. He asserted his 

good faith in dealing with the Menominee Tribe, provided his risk assessment associated with approval of 

the Kenosha Casino, and stated his doubts the Kenosha Casino could come to fruition. His analysis is  

flawed,  contains misleading statements, and is contradicted by his own consultants, and the record of 

negotiations between the Menominee Tribe and the State. 

A. Good Faith 

Secretary Huebsch begins by claiming the State worked in good faith in its dealing with Menominee. The 

record clearly shows that Menominee has worked in good faith with the State and has addressed every 

concern the State has raised as an issue or obstacle to approval. Even today Menominee and Hard Rock 

continue to attempt to address any concerns the State has. The record of the State's good faith in dealing 

with Menominee is more troubling.  In particular, the State's actions surrounding the Menominee compact 

amendment and the so called "risk" to State taxpayers suggest a lack of good faith on the part of the State. 

These issues are discussed in more detail below. 

Secretary Huebsch concludes the first paragraph of his January 29, 2015 memorandum with the statement 

“Our analysis shows there is nothing the Menominee can do to mitigate the risks we have identified.” We 

strongly disagree and will address the risks in turn.  

B. Risk to Taxpayers 

Secretary Huebsch makes two counter points in an attempt to dismiss the claim that the Menominee 

compact would hold the state harmless. Both of which are flawed.  

1) Secretary Huebsch’s first counterpoint to the claim that the Menominee compact would 

hold the State harmless, is the fact that the Compact has not yet received BIA approval.  

 

Secretary Huebsch’s counter could not be more disingenuous. The announcement of Governor 

Walker's denial came within a mere 72 hours of his signing of a historic compact amendment 

with the Menominee Tribe. The BIA wasn’t even given the opportunity to read the compact when 

the denial was issued.  On its face, this timeline shows that the State acted in bad faith. If the 

State was interested in making a well informed decision on the facts, it would have provided the 

BIA time to review the amendment.  This premature action leads to only two logical conclusions: 

1) Secretary Huebsch had made up his mind prior to negotiating the compact with the 

Menominee; or 2) Secretary Huebsch did not want the BIA to have an opportunity to review and 

approve the compact, as such approval would have precluded unfounded reasons to deny the 

project. 

 

The State has a willing party in Menominee and Hard Rock, and Secretary Huebsch has 

spent over a million dollars of taxpayer money to hire legal counsel well versed in tribal 

gaming compacts.  The Secretary, and his negotiators, led us to believe that the compact 

negotiated between the parties adequately addressed the State’s  concerns.  
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2) Secretary Huebsch’s second counterpoint illustrates a misunderstanding of the risk to the 

State and completely ignores the solution offered by the Menominee and Hard Rock. 

Secretary Huebsch made the following observations. 1) The Amendment only requires 

Menominee to compensate the State for any future funds it is required to pay. 2) The 

amendment does not compensate the State if the State is required to refund past lump sum 

payments and revenue sharing made by FCP.  

 

a.  Secretary Huebsch is partially correct in his first point.  The Compact does require the 

Menominee to compensate the State for future funds the State would be required to pay 

to the Forest County Potawatomi.  However, the compact amendment also provides that 

if the State can't collect FCPC missed payments, including the payment missed in 2014, 

then Menominee will make that payment to the State. Thus, the  compact amendment 

achieves full protection of the State starting in 2014 and going forward. 

 

b. The Secretary’s second point is accurate but misleading. The State never requested such a 

provision in the compact amendment and the idea that the State would ever be required to 

pay such a refund to FCPC is contradicted by his own legal counsel’s letter to the Forest 

County Potawatomi Community in 2014 which stated: 

 

“No compact provision requires the State to pay any amount or to repay FCPC’s so called 

lump-sum payment upon another federally recognized Indian Tribe commending Class III 

gaming within the 50-mile “no fly zone”. 

 

Compact Section XXXI.B., which provides for the State to repay the lump-sum payment to 

FCPC, is triggered only by a loss of exclusivity as a result of new non-tribal gaming. 

Otherwise, the State has fulfilled every obligation it has under the compact and is, as you 

know, currently progressing under the Compact’s last best offer arbitration process, which is 

the State’s only obligation with regard to a tribal gaming facility opened within the 50-mile 

“no fly zone.” Notably, the 2005 Compact Amendment stated that FCPC agreed to pay 

$43.625 million “in consideration of the good faith negotiation, and execution, of the 

substitute provisions that are not in dispute.” In other words, the Compact’s plain language 

explicitly states the lump sum payment was not in consideration for the “no fly zone,” which 

remained in dispute and unresolved.”  

 

- R. Lance Boldrey’s July 22, 2014 letter to Forest County Potawatomi Attorney Jeff 

Crawford.  

 

Menominee was never once informed the State was going to ignore the advice of its Legal 

Counsel until the Secretary released his January 20, 2015 memorandum.  The State’s miniscule 

risk of back payments to the Forest County Potawatomi was never a subject of the Menominee’s 

negotiations with Secretary Huebsch.   

 

Within 48 hours of being notified, Menominee and Hard Rock attempted to address this issue. 

Due to the compact being already submitted the previous day the best approach to address this 

new found concern was to offer to put up a $250 million bond. We were willing to address this 

because Menominee and Hard Rock agreed with the State’s own legal counsel, Lance Boldrey, 



3 | P a g e  

 

that there is no requirement in the FCPC compact which would require any repayment.  Simply 

put, the Forest County Potawatomi have no viable claim that would force the State to pay back 

any of the Potawatomi’s previous payments to the State.   This is underscored by the fact that the 

Potawatomi did not propose such a refund in its arbitration with the State. Secretary Huebsch's 

suggestion that a $250 million bond does not provide the State with protection is 

incomprehensible. 

C. Doubts the Project would come to fruition 

Secretary Huebsch also raises the issue (without any supporting justification) that the mere occurrence of 

litigation could delay Menominee’s ability to open the proposed Kenosha casino. We disagree. This 

statement demonstrates that Secretary Huebsch  misunderstands the following pertinent law and facts:  

1) If the Kenosha Project opening was delayed or it never opened there would not be any harm to 

FCPC, and therefore absolutely no reason for FCPC not to pay their revenue share. Again, 

presumably non-payment for no reason would result in the State taking the necessary steps to 

ensure payment is made. 

 

2) Hard Rock in its development agreement with Menominee has committed to financing the initial 

purchase of the land and construction of the temporary facility. Hard Rock has provided Secretary 

Huebsch with a Highly Confident Letter from Bank of America indicating that further financing 

for construction of the permanent facility can be obtained. Hard Rock has offered to make its 

Chief Financial Officer, and representatives from Bank of America available to Secretary 

Huebsch and his consultants to discuss these matters. As Secretary Huebsch has provided no 

justification for his assertions it is impossible to refute them in detail, however, it is unclear how 

he believes that he is able to predict the availability of financing for the Kenosha Casino better 

than Hard Rock International which will be backing their projections with over $100 million. 

 

3) In October of 2013 Hard Rock suggested to the State the concept of a $50 Million bond to ensure 

that if the Kenosha Project was approved by the State, the project would be built.  

 

4) Nearly every tribally-owned gaming project in the United States has been subject to legal 

challenges, and that has not deterred tribally-owned gaming facilities from successfully opening 

in the midst of legal challenges. For example, the Match-E-Be Nash-She-Wish Band of 

Potawatomi has operated a successful gaming facility in Michigan since 2010, in spite of a 

pending lawsuit that ultimately reached the United States Supreme Court in 2012.   

D. The State’s immediate risk of FCPC withholding payments justifies denying the State 1 

 billion in future compact payments, 10,600 jobs and a 1.6 billion dollar investment in 

 Wisconsin.    

Secretary Huebsch raised in the last paragraph of his letter that even if 1) Menominee’s compact was 

approved, 2) FCPC was unsuccessful in all litigation, and 3) Menominee was able to open uninterrupted, 

approving the project would cost the state immediately because FCPC would withhold their payments.  

We have four responses,  

1) The State did a disservice to the taxpayers of Wisconsin by allowing FCPC to withhold their 

payments in July of 2014. For seven months the state did very little to take enforcement actions 
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on the FCPC. From Lance Boldrey’s July 22, 2014 letter, it’s clear the State saw no possible legal 

justification for FCPC to withhold their payments. In any event, the Menominee Compact 

amendment ensured that the State would be held harmless from any such non-payment. 

2) Under Secretary’s Huebsch’s hypothetical, the only thing standing  between 1 billion dollars of 

new payments to the State, 10,600 jobs, and a 1.6 billion dollar investment in Wisconsin is the 

temporary risk of FCPC withholding a $25 million dollar  payment to the State. It defies belief 

that the State would forego this opportunity as a result of FCPC's threat of non-payment.     

3) As to the Secretary’s last point that under the most optimistic economic analysis, the State could 

not recover this revenue (FCPC missed 2014 missed payment) until 2027. This statement 

completely ignores the fact that the State could have enforced the FCPC compact and required 

payment through the process outlined in the compact. There is no logical reason enforcing the 

compact would have taken 12 years. 

 

4) Menominee sent the State draft compact amendment language which would have required 

Menominee to reimburse the State for the losses attributable to FCPC withholding payments due 

prior to Kenosha opening (including the 2014 withheld payment). Menominee proposed 

reimbursing the State for this loss on the June 30 following the first full year of Kenosha 

operation (estimated at June 30, 2017). The State suggested that these missed payments would not 

need to be reimbursed so quickly. Therefore Menominee proposed that these payments be spread 

over a 10 year period and the State agreed. For Secretary Huebsch to now point to this provision 

of the Compact amendment (i.e. no repayment until 2027) as a reason to reject the project does 

not lead to a conclusion  that the State was acting in good faith.  

 

 


